
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 21-CV-60635-VALLE 
 

GUIRLAINE TOUSSAINT, 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

KATZMAN CHANDLER, P.A., 

 

Defendant. 

  / 
 

OMNIBUS ORDER ON MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  
 

THIS MATTER is before the Court upon: (i) Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment (ECF No. 56); (ii) Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment, which the Court also construes as Defendant’s Cross-Motion for Summary 

Judgment (ECF No. 59); and (iii) Defendant’s Notices of Filing, construed as Motions for 

Judicial Notice (ECF Nos. 61, 62) (together, “the Motions”).  The Court has reviewed the 

Motions, Responses, Replies, exhibits attached thereto, and is otherwise fully advised on the 

matter.  Accordingly, for the reasons discussed below, Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment is DENIED, Defendant’s Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment is GRANTED, and 

Defendant’s Motions for Judicial Notice are DENIED AS MOOT.  

I. THE COMPLAINT 

 Plaintiff Guirlaine Toussaint (“Plaintiff”) owned a condominium unit at the Margate 

Village Phase 2 Condominium.  See (ECF No. 37-3 at 1).  In March 2021, Plaintiff filed a 

Complaint against Defendants Katzman Chandler, P.A. (“Defendant”) and Margate Village 

Condominium Association (the “Association”), alleging violations of the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 (the “FDCPA”), and the Florida Consumer Collection Practices 
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Act, Fla. Stat. § 559.55 (the “FCCPA”),1 in connection with Defendant’s debt-collection efforts 

on Plaintiff’s outstanding condominium assessments.  (ECF No. 1).  Plaintiff subsequently filed 

an Amended and Second Amended Complaint, the latter being the operative complaint (the 

“Complaint”).2  See (ECF Nos. 9, 37).  

The Complaint alleges that Defendant, a debt collector hired by the Association to recover 

unpaid assessments and fees from Plaintiff, violated the FDCPA by making false or misleading 

statements in its debt-recovery communications with Plaintiff.  See generally (ECF No. 37).  In 

particular, the Complaint references three separate communications from Defendant, each 

purportedly listing a different amount owed for “regular and special assessments, late fees and 

costs, interest, attorney’s fees and cost, less payments made by or on behalf of the Plaintiff.”  Id. 

¶¶ 13-18.  In the first communication of August 27, 2020 (the “First Notice”), Defendant advised 

Plaintiff that she owed $19,437 in maintenance fees (from October 1, 2015, through August 27, 

2020), plus additional special maintenance fees, late fees, interest, attorney’s fees, and costs.  (ECF 

No. 37-1 at 1).  The First Notice also deducted credits due to Plaintiff for payments she had made, 

resulting in a net outstanding balance (i.e., debt) of $11,370.84.  Id.  Relevant to Plaintiff’s motion 

for partial summary judgment, the First Notice also advised Plaintiff that the Association was 

charging yearly interest on delinquent assessments at the rate of 18%.  Id. at 2. 

One month later, on September 30, 2020, Defendant mailed a second notice to Plaintiff 

(the “Second Notice”), advising Plaintiff that she now owed $19,776 in regular assessments (from 

October 1, 2015 through September 30, 2020), plus additional special assessments, totaling 

 
1 Notably, other than a general reference in the preamble of the Complaint, the Complaint does not 

assert a separate violation of the FCCPA.  See (ECF No. 37 ¶ 1).  Thus, Plaintiff’s cursory reference 

to this statute need not be considered.  See Bryan v. Saul, No. 19-CV-63164, 2021 WL 707594, at 

*10 n.11 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 6, 2021) (noting that cursory arguments are waived) (citation omitted).  

2 On June 15, 2021, Plaintiff agreed to dismiss the Association as a Defendant.  See (ECF No. 33). 
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$21,173.04.  (ECF No. 37-2 at 1).  The Second Notice listed additional late fees, interest, attorney’s 

fees, and various costs, and credited Plaintiff for payments made, resulting in a net balance (i.e., 

debt) of $11,939.14.  Id.  The Second Notice further advised Plaintiff that a Claim of Lien would 

be recorded against her property and of the Association’s intent to foreclose on the Claim of Lien 

unless Plaintiff paid the debt within 30 days of receipt of the Second Notice.  Id.      

 On the same date (September 30, 2020), Defendant filed its Claim of Lien in Broward 

County, Florida.  (ECF No. 37-3).  The Claim of Lien, like the Second Notice, listed a total debt 

through September 2020 of $21,173.04 in assessments (at a yearly interest rate of 18%), and 

advised that Plaintiff would be credited for any payments she made since the date of initial 

delinquency.  Id.  Subsequently, in January 2021, Defendant filed a separate civil action in Florida 

state court to foreclose on the Claim of Lien.  See generally (ECF No. 37-4).  

 The Complaint generally alleges that Defendant misrepresented the amount of her debt by 

not crediting Plaintiff for the $19,280.55 in payments she had made, making the Claim of Lien 

“false at the time it was created” and “not legally valid.”  (ECF No. 37 ¶¶ 28, 30,  35, 36).  More 

specifically, the Complaint alleges three FDCPA claims: (i) attempting to collect an improper debt 

because the recorded Claim of Lien “falsely listed the amount owed in violation of 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692e(2)(a)” (Count I); (ii) making a false and misleading statement in the Claim of Lien by 

“seeking an amount due which was greater than what was actually owed in violation of 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692e(5)” (Count II); and (iii) making a false statement to the state court in the Claim of Lien in 

violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e (Count III).  See (ECF No. 37 at 6-8).  

 In her motion for partial summary judgment, Plaintiff asserts that Defendant violated the 

FDCPA by misstating the amount of her debt in the First Notice, the Claim of Lien, and the State 

Court Complaint and by seeking almost twice the allowable interest.  See (ECF No. 56 at 1); see 
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also (ECF No. 56-2 at 3-4).  In response, Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s motion for partial 

summary judgment is procedurally and substantively unsound, and cross-moves for summary 

judgment in its favor on the basis that Plaintiff failed to establish an FDCPA violation.  See (ECF 

No. 59 at 1, 4-5).  As discussed below, Defendant has the better argument.   

II. LEGAL STANDARDS 

A. Summary Judgment  

The Court may grant a motion for summary judgment “if the movant shows that there 

is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter 

of law.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).  The parties may support their positions by citation to the record, 

including, inter alia, depositions, documents, affidavits, or declarations.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 

56(c).  An issue is genuine if “a reasonable trier of fact could return judgment for the 

nonmoving party.”  Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Fla. v. U.S., 516 F.3d 1235, 1243 (11th 

Cir. 2008) (citing Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)).  In turn, a fact 

is material if it “might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law.”  Id.  (quoting 

Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248).  The Court views the facts in the light most favorable to the non-

moving party and draws all reasonable inferences in the party’s favor.  Maximiliano v. Simm 

Assocs., Inc., No. 17-CV-80341, 2018 WL 783104, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 8, 2018); Davis v. 

Williams, 451 F.3d 759, 763 (11th Cir. 2006); Stanley Indus., Inc. v. W.M. Barr & Co., Inc., 

784 F. Supp. 1570, 1572 (S.D. Fla. 1992) (citing Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144, 

157 (1970)).  But “[t]he mere existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of the [non-moving 

party’s] position will be insufficient; there must be evidence on which the jury could reasonably 

find for the [non-moving] party.”  Anderson, 477 U.S. at 252.  Moreover, the Court does not 

weigh conflicting evidence or decide factual issues.  Maximiliano, 2018 WL 783104, at *3; 

Case 0:21-cv-60635-AOV   Document 77   Entered on FLSD Docket 04/01/2022   Page 4 of 13



 

 

5  

Gross v. S. Ry. Co., 414 F.2d 292, 297 (5th Cir. 1969).3     

 Initially, the moving party bears the burden of showing the absence of a genuine issue of 

material fact.  Maximiliano, 2018 WL 783104, at *3; Shiver v. Chertoff, 549 F.3d 1342, 1343 (11th 

Cir. 2008).  If the movant satisfies this burden, then “the burden shift[s] to the nonmoving party to 

demonstrate that there is indeed a material issue of fact that precludes summary judgment.” Clark 

v. Coats & Clark, Inc., 929 F.2d 604, 608 (11th Cir. 1991).  The non-moving party must make a 

sufficient showing on each essential element of the case for which she has the burden of proof.  

Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986).  In so doing, the non-moving party must 

produce evidence, going beyond the pleadings, and “by her own affidavits, or by the depositions, 

answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, designate specific facts showing that there is a 

genuine issue for trial.”  Mid-Continent Cas. Co. v Arpin & Sons, LLC, 261 F. Supp. 3d 1245, 1249 

(S.D. Fla. 2017) (citing Celotex Corp., 477 U.S. at 324).  “Thus, the nonmoving party ‘may not 

rest upon the mere allegations or denials of [its] pleadings, but must set forth specific facts showing 

that there is a genuine issue for trial.’”  Mid-Continent Cas. Co., 261 F. Supp. 3d at 1250 (citing 

Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248).  If a genuine issue of fact exists for trial, summary judgment should 

not be granted.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).   

B. The FDCPA 

 The FDCPA is a consumer protection statute that is intended to “eliminate abusive debt 

collection practices to ensure that debt collectors who refrain from abusive debt collection 

practices are not competitively disadvantaged, and to promote consistent state action in protecting 

consumers against debt collection abuses.”  Maximiliano, 2018 WL 783104, at *4 (quotations and 

citation omitted).  The FDCPA regulates the conduct of debt collectors by giving consumers the 

 
3 In Bonner v. Pritchard, 661 F.2d 1206 (11th Cir. 1981), the Eleventh Circuit adopted as binding 

precedent the decisions of the former Fifth Circuit rendered before October 1, 1981. 
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right to sue those who violate the law.  Id.   

 To establish an FDCPA violation, a plaintiff must prove that: (i) the plaintiff has been the 

object of collection activity arising from consumer debt; (ii) the defendant is a debt collector as 

defined by the FDCPA; and (iii) the defendant has engaged in an act or omission prohibited by the 

FDCPA.  Id.; Anselmi v. Shendell & Assocs., P.A., No. 12-CV-61599, 2015 WL 11121357, at *2 

(S.D. Fla. Jan. 7, 2015).  Here, the first two elements are undisputed.  See (ECF Nos. 37 at 2, 55 

at 1).  The third element, however, is contested and is discussed further below.  See Section III.B. 

infra. 

 Furthermore, allegations of FDCPA violations are evaluated using the “least sophisticated 

consumer” perspective, which assumes that the consumer “possess[es] a rudimentary amount of 

information about the world and a willingness to read a collection notice with some care.”  

Maximiliano, 2018 WL 783104, at *4 (quoting  LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partners, 601 F.3d 1185, 

1194 (11th Cir. 2010) and Jeter v. Credit Bureau, Inc., 760 F.2d 1168, 1175 (11th Cir. 1985)); see 

also Kottler v. Gulf Coast Collection Bureau, Inc., 460 F. Supp. 3d 1282, 1292 (S.D. Fla. 2020) 

(citation omitted).  The least sophisticated consumer standard is “an objective standard that 

prevents liability for bizarre or idiosyncratic interpretations of collection notices.”  Anselmi, 2015 

WL 11121357, at *3 (citation omitted).  Lastly, the least sophisticated consumer “is neither 

irrational nor a dolt.”  Id. (citing Gabriele v. Am. Home. Mortg. Servicing, Inc., 503 F. App’x 89, 

95 (2d Cir. 2012)).           

III. DISCUSSION 

A.  Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment  

 

Plaintiff’s motion for partial summary judgment focuses exclusively on the 18% annual 

interest rate charge listed in Defendant’s First Notice, the Claim of Lien, and in the underlying 
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State court proceeding.  See generally (ECF Nos. 37-1, 37-3, 37-4, 56, 56-2).  According to 

Plaintiff, the Declaration of Condominium (the “Declaration”), the document that controls the 

legal relationship between Plaintiff and the Association, caps yearly interest on past due 

assessments at 10%.  (ECF No. 56 at 3).  Thus, Plaintiff argues that “Defendant has misstated the 

amount of the debt in the First Notice, the Claim of Lien, and the State Court Complaint and is 

seeking almost twice the allowable interest,” in violation of the FDCPA.  Id; see also (ECF No. 56-

2 at 3-4).  According to Plaintiff, seeking “nearly double the amount of interest legally permitted 

[by the Declaration]” is a “classic violation of the FDCPA” and constitutes a false statement and 

a threat to take any action that cannot legally be taken, as alleged in Counts I – III of the Complaint.  

(ECF No. 56-2 at 1, 4).     

 In response, Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s motion for partial summary judgment is 

procedurally and substantively unsound.  Procedurally, Defendant emphasizes that Plaintiff has 

drastically strayed from the original allegations in her Complaint to now asserting a “newly-found 

allegation that [Defendant] has attempted to collect a higher rate of interest than permitted by law.”  

See (ECF No. 59 at 1).  As to the merits of Plaintiff’s new allegation, Defendant argues that a 

January 1992 amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Declaration authorized the Association to 

charge an annual interest rate of 18%.  Id. at 3.  According to Defendant, the Amendment increased 

the interest rate on late assessments from 10% to “the highest rate permitted by law,” which was 

18%.4  Id.  Thus, Defendant argues that Plaintiff is not entitled to summary judgment because 

“Plaintiff’s sole basis for seeking summary judgment is predicated upon the assertion that 

[Defendant] has misstated the amount of the debt owed by Plaintiff by virtue of charging 18% 

interest[.]”   Id. at 3-4 (emphasis in original).   

 
4 Pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 687.02, the “highest rate of interest” that can be charged to a debtor is 

18%.   
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 In the Eleventh Circuit, “[a]t the summary judgment stage, the proper procedure for a 

plaintiff to assert a new claim is to amend the complaint under Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a).”  Hurlbert v. 

St. Mary’s Health Care Sys., Inc., 439 F.3d 1286, 1297 (11th Cir. 2006) (citing Gilmour v. Gates, 

McDonald & Co., 382 F.3d 1312, 1315 (11th Cir. 2004)); see also MSPA Claims 1, LLC v. 

Covington Specialty Ins. Co., 548 F. Supp. 3d 1269, 1277 (S.D. Fla. 2021).  Thus, a party may not 

amend its complaint by presenting new claims in its summary judgment papers.  See Corey Airport 

Servs., Inc. v. Decosta, 587 F.3d 1280, 1282 n.2 (11th Cir. 2009) (“Because Corey cannot amend 

its Complaint by adding a new claim in its summary judgment papers, we will not discuss conduct 

beyond the scope of the Second Amended Complaint.”) (citation omitted).  Eleventh Circuit 

precedent establishes that “a party impermissibly asserts a new claim at the summary judgment 

stage where the party asserts new facts that would provide a new theory of recovery.”  Arthur v. 

Thomas, No. 11-CV-438-MEF, 2014 WL 466143, at *4 (M.D. Ala. Feb. 5, 2014) (citing Merle 

Wood & Assocs., Inc. v. Trinity Yachts, LLC, 714 F.3d 1234, 1237-38 (11th Cir. 2013); 

GeorgiaCarry.Org, Inc. v. Ga., 687 F.3d 1244, 1258 n.27 (11th Cir. 2012)).  Moreover, “[t]he new 

claim need not involve [the] assertion of an entirely independent legal right but new facts that 

would provide a theory of recovery under a previously asserted legal right.”  Arthur, 2014 WL 

466143, at *4.  

 Guided by these principles, the undersigned concludes that Plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment on the basis that Defendant improperly charged an 18% interest rate (instead of 10%) 

must be denied.  Simply put, the Complaint does not allege this theory of liability and Plaintiff 

cannot raise it for the first time in her summary judgment papers.  Compare (ECF No. 37), with 

(ECF No. 56, 56-2).  As discussed above, the Complaint only alleges that the Claim of Lien 

misstated the debt by omitting certain credits due to Plaintiff, in violation of § 1692e(2)(a) and (5).  
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See generally (ECF No. 37).  In contrast, Plaintiff’s motion for partial summary judgment alleges 

that the Claim of Lien violated the FDCPA by improperly reflecting an inflated 18% annual 

interest rate.  See (ECF No. 56 at 1).  Because this is a new theory of liability, Plaintiff is precluded 

from asserting it at this stage of the litigation.   See GeorgiaCarry.Org, Inc., 687 F.3d at 1258 n.27 

(rejecting plaintiffs’ attempt at summary judgment to argue additional facts not included in the 

amended complaint); MSPA Claims 1, LLC, 548 F. Supp. 3d at 1278 (noting that any attempt to 

add new facts at summary judgment is improper if it presents a new theory of recovery under a 

previously asserted right); Cruz v. Advance Stores Co., Inc., 842 F. Supp. 2d 1356, 1360 (S.D. Fla. 

2012) (prohibiting plaintiff from introducing new facts that would establish a new theory of 

negligent supervision at summary judgment different from the negligent supervision already in the 

complaint).  Consequently, Plaintiff’s motion for partial summary judgment is DENIED.5  

B.  Defendant’s Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment 

 

In addition to opposing Plaintiff’s motion, Defendant cross-moves for summary judgment 

in its favor.  (ECF No. 59 at 4).  According to Defendant, summary judgment is appropriate against 

Plaintiff as to each FDCPA count because Plaintiff failed to establish that Defendant engaged in 

an act or omission prohibited by the FDCPA, the necessary third element of any FDCPA claim.  

Id. at 5-6, 8.  In particular, Defendant asserts that the “least sophisticated consumer” would not be 

confused by the debt amount listed in the Claim of Lien, which contains no misrepresentation as 

 
5
 In her Reply, Plaintiff argues that Defendant should be precluded from using the Amendment in 

its response opposing Plaintiff’s motion for partial summary judgment because Defendant did not 

disclose the existence of the Amendment until its response to Plaintiff’s motion on February 15, 

2022, eight months after the deadline to provide Rule 26 disclosures.  (ECF No. 67 at 1).  

Alternatively, Plaintiff argues that the Amendment is ambiguous because it contains a residual 

reference to the 10% interest rate.  Id. at 2-3.  According to Plaintiff, “ambiguities in documents 

are routinely construed against the maker.”  Id. at 3.  Based on the Court’s ruling that Plaintiff 

cannot raise a new theory of liability at the summary judgment stage, the undersigned need not 

address these alternative arguments.  
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to the amount owed and fully complies with the requirements of Florida Statute § 718.116(5)(b).6  

Id. at 5-8.  Plaintiff did not respond to Defendant’s cross-motion for summary judgment.  See 

generally (ECF No. 67).   

Against this factual and legal backdrop, the undersigned finds that Plaintiff has in fact 

failed to establish the third element of an FDCPA claim as to each count.7  The FDCPA prohibits 

a debt collector from misrepresenting the debt owed by a consumer and from attempting to collect 

more than is actually owed.  Indeed, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e and e(2)(a) (as alleged in Counts I and III) 

prohibits a debt collector from using “any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means 

in connection with the collection of any debt,” including a false representation as to the “character, 

amount, or legal status of any debt.”  Similarly, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5) (as alleged in Count II) 

prohibits “ threat[ing] to take any action that cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be 

taken.” 

  Courts in this Circuit and District, as throughout the country, have consistently held that 

only misrepresentations that are material violate the FDCPA.  See, e.g., Anselmi, 2015 WL 

11121357, at *6 (collecting cases); Bryant v. Kass Shuler, P.A., No. 16-CV-24082, 2017 WL 

766343, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 28, 2017) (finding that difference between the number of days to 

respond indicated on a summons and the publicly available docket was not materially misleading); 

Stanley v. Ideal Collection Servs., Inc., No. 13-CV-60217, 2013 WL 4496501, at *3 (S.D. Fla. 

 
6 Fla. Stat. § 718.116(5)(b) requires a claim of lien to state the description of the condominium 

parcel, the name of the record owner, the name and address of the association, the amount due, 

and the due dates.  

7 To reiterate, the elements of an FDCPA claim are that: (i) plaintiff was the object of collection 

activity arising from consumer debt; (ii) defendant is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA; 

and (iii) defendant has engaged in an act or omission prohibited by the FDCPA.  See Anselmi, 

2015 WL 11121357, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 6, 2015); see also Fuller v. Becker & Poliakoff, P.A., 

192 F. Supp. 2d 1361, 1366 (M.D. Fla. 2002).  There is no dispute that Plaintiff satisfied the first 

two elements.  
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Aug. 20, 2013) (finding that defendant’s tardiness in reporting plaintiff’s debt to credit bureau was 

immaterial); Miljkovic v. Shafritz & Dinkin, P.A., No. 8-14-CV-635-T-33TBM, 2014 WL 

3587550, at *8 (M.D. Fla. July 18, 2014) (noting that a § 1692e claim must allege materially 

misleading conduct).  A statement is “material” only if it “influence[s] a consumer’s decision or 

ability to pay or challenge a debt.”  Anselmi, 2015 WL 11121357, at *6 (citation omitted).  Thus, 

false but immaterial representations are not likely to mislead the least sophisticated consumer and 

therefore are not actionable under 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.   Such is the case here.     

 Upon a review of the two Notices and the Claim of Lien, the undersigned finds no material 

misrepresentations in connection with Defendant’s debt-collection communications.  The First 

Notice advised Plaintiff that she owed $19,437 in maintenance fees, from October 1, 2015 through 

August 27, 2020, plus additional special maintenance fees, late fees, interest, attorney’s fees, and 

costs.  (ECF No. 37-1 at 1).  The First Notice also listed certain credits due Plaintiff, with a resulting 

net debt of $11,370.84.  Id.   

 The Second Notice, mailed approximately one month later, advised Plaintiff that she now 

owed $19,776 in regular assessments, from October 1, 2015 through September 30, 2020, plus 

$1,397.04 additional special assessments, for a total of $21,173.04.  (ECF No. 37-2 at 1).  The 

Second Notice also contained an itemized breakdown of additional late fees, interest, attorney’s 

fees, and various costs, and credited Plaintiff for payments she had made, resulting in a net debt 

of $11,939.14.  Id.   

 On the same date as the Second Notice, Defendant filed its Claim of Lien in Broward 

County, Florida.  (ECF No. 37-3).  The Claim of Lien, like the Second Notice, listed a total debt 

of $21,173.04 in assessments and advised Plaintiff that she would be credited for any payments 

she had made since the date of initial delinquency.  Id.  The Claim of Lien, however, did not 
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itemize the credits owed to Plaintiff.  Id.  

 On their face, these communications do not materially misrepresent the amount of 

Plaintiff’s debt.  Rather, except for the First Notice, which understandingly reported a slightly 

lower debt balance for a shorter time period (through August 2020), the Second Notice and the 

Claim of Lien both reported Plaintiff’s debt through September 2020 as totaling $21,173.04, minus 

credits due to Plaintiff for payments she made since the date of initial delinquency.  Although the 

Claim of Lien admittedly did not provide the line-by-line breakdown that the Second Notice 

provided, both documents contained the same information, the only difference being that the Claim 

of Lien required Plaintiff to calculate her net balance by subtracting her credits (after applying 

them to interest, fees, and costs) from the $21,173.04, resulting in a net debt of $11,939.14.8  Thus, 

both the Second Notice and Claim of Lien presented an accurate snapshot of Plaintiff’s debt as of 

September 30, 2020.  See (ECF Nos. 37-2, 37-3).  Moreover, even assuming that the failure to 

itemize the amount of credit due to Plaintiff was a technical violation of the FDCPA, such a 

violation would not be materially misleading because the least sophisticated consumer could 

understand what she owed.  See Maximiliano, 2018 WL 783104, at *6 (even if the demand letter 

was a hyper-technical violation of the FDCPA, it was not material because it did not influence the 

consumer’s choices or cause concern); Anselmi, 2015 WL 11121357, at *7 (finding that the 

mislabeling of certain fees in a collection letter was not materially misleading).  

 The non-moving party must make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case 

for which she has the burden of proof.  Celotex Corp., 477 U.S. at 322-23.  In so doing, the non-

moving party must produce evidence, going beyond the pleadings,   and “by her own affidavits, or 

 
8 This required Plaintiff to do some basic arithmetic.  Indeed, Plaintiff filed a Declaration stating 

that “[she] reviewed [her] payments and the assessed amounts and they are closer to the $11,939.14 

sought in the [Second Notice].”  See (ECF No. 56-3 at 1); see also (ECF No. 67 at 3).     
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by the depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, designate specific facts 

showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.”  Id. at 324.   Plaintiff failed to do so.  See generally 

(ECF No. 67); see also Mid-Continent Cas. Co., 261 F. Supp. 3d at 1249-50 (noting that Rule 56 

requires the nonmoving party to go beyond the pleadings to show that there is a genuine issue for 

trial).  Thus, Defendant’s cross-motion for summary judgment is GRANTED as to all counts. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set forth above, it is hereby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that: 

1. Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (ECF No. 56) is DENIED; 

2. Defendant’s Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment (ECF No. 59) is GRANTED;  

3. Defendant’s Motions to take Judicial Notice (ECF Nos. 61, 62) are DENIED AS      

MOOT; 

4. The case is administratively CLOSED and all pending motions are DENIED AS 

MOOT; 

5. The April 6, 2022, calendar call and April 11, 2022, trial is CANCELLED; and 

6. Within 14 days of the date of this Order, Defendant shall file a Motion for Final 

Judgment and a Proposed Order of Final Judgment.  

 DONE AND ORDERED at Chambers in Fort Lauderdale, Florida on April 1, 2022.  

                                

                                              

    

        

       ___________________________________ 

       ALICIA O. VALLE 

       UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE 
        

cc: All Counsel of Record 
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